FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 3/26/2019 10:16 AM

NO. <u>96997-3</u> Court of Appeals No. 50762-5-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SCOTT B. OSBORNE, Personal Representative of the Estate of Barbara Hagyard Mesdag,

Respondent,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner.

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

David M. Hankins, WSBA No. 19194 Senior Counsel Charles Zalesky, WSBA No. 37777 Assistant Attorney General Revenue Division, OID No. 91027 P.O. Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5515

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND CITATION TO DECISION

The State Department of Revenue files this petition requesting discretionary review of the February 26, 2019, unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division II, in *Scott B. Osborne v. Dep't of Revenue*, No. 50762-5-II. A copy of that opinion is provided as Appendix A.

II. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals opinion directly conflicts with this Court's recent decisions in *In re Estate of Hambleton*, 181 Wn.2d 802, 335 P.3d 398 (2014), *cert. denied*, 136 S. Ct. 318 (2015), and *Hale v. Wellpinit School District No. 49*, 165 Wn.2d 494, 198 P.3d 1021 (2009). In *Hambleton*, this Court unanimously held that the Legislature had constitutional authority to stop an unanticipated and massive loss of revenue by retroactively amending the state's estate tax code to tax qualified terminable interest property (QTIP) passing at death. In *Hale*, this Court unanimously held that the Legislature had constitutional authority to retroactively amend a statute that had previously been construed by the courts, rejecting the notion that court decisions are entitled to broader retroactive effect than laws passed by the Legislature in response.

The Court of Appeals ruling turns *Hambleton* and *Hale* on their heads by refusing to give full retroactive effect to the 2013 "*Bracken* fix"

legislation that was enacted in direct response to a prior court decision narrowly interpreting the estate tax code. The Court of Appeals concluded that estate tax and interest are due under the amended law *only from the date the amendment was enacted*. In other words, although the Supreme Court's decision in *Hambleton* expressly upheld the retroactive amendment to the estate tax code, the Court of Appeals nonetheless held that estate tax and interest are due on a prospective-only basis. The Court of Appeals refusal to follow this Court's prior decisions and retroactively apply the amended law results in a \$350,000 impact on the state budget from this Estate alone, and invites additional litigation on an issue that was fully resolved in *Hambleton*.

III. ISSUE

As this Court held in *Hambleton* and *Hale*, Court decisions interpreting a statute apply retroactively, as do retroactive statutes passed by the Legislature in response. Did the Court of Appeals err as a matter of constitutional law when it gave broader retroactive effect to this Court's decision in *In re Estate of Bracken* than it gave to the 2013 "*Bracken* fix" legislation?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The QTIP Controversy

The controversy surrounding the state estate tax treatment of QTIP is well summarized in *Hambleton*, 181 Wn.2d 802. The saga began in 2005 when the Legislature amended the estate tax code to create a "stand alone" estate tax that piggybacked on the federal estate tax regime. *Id.* at 810. The stand-alone estate tax was imposed on "every transfer of property" that occurred as a result of the decedent's death and applied "prospectively to estates of decedents dying on or after May 17, 2005." *Id.* at 811 (quoting Laws of 2005, ch. 516, §§ 3(1), 20).

Almost immediately after the law was passed, several estates took the position that qualified terminable interest property was not subject to the stand-alone estate tax if the QTIP election was made before the 2005 effective date of the law.¹ The Department amended its interpretive rules in 2009 to clarify that QTIP passing under Internal Revenue Code § 2044 *is included* in the Washington taxable estate, but by then several estates had already commenced litigation challenging the Department's efforts to

¹ QTIP is a life estate set up to take advantage of the marital deduction allowed under federal estate tax law. When a spouse dies, his or her estate can create a QTIP trust that provides income to the surviving spouse for life. An estate may deduct the assets contributed to the QTIP trust from the taxable estate of the spouse who made the election. I.R.C. § 2056(b)(7). However, upon the surviving spouse's death, the assets remaining in the QTIP trust are included in that spouse's taxable estate. I.R.C. § 2044.

collect tax on QTIP.

B. This Court's Decision in *Bracken* Created an Estimated \$159 Million Tax Loss

The lead case was *In re Estate of Bracken*, 175 Wn.2d 549, 290 P.3d 99 (2012). In that case the estates of Sharon Bracken and Barbara Nelson asserted that they did not owe Washington estate tax on QTIP included in their federal taxable estates. In ruling for the two estates, this Court "interpreted 'transfer' narrowly" and reasoned that the "real" transfer of QTIP occurred when the first spouse died and the QTIP trust was created. *Hambleton*, 181 Wn.2d at 812 (citing *Bracken*, 175 Wn.2d at 554, 563). "Any transfers that occurred later upon the wives' deaths were fictional" transfers. *Id*.

This Court's narrow interpretation of the Washington statute, distinguishing between "real" and "fictional" transfers of property at death, applied retroactively and opened a floodgate of litigation from other estate's seeking the same tax advantage. That decision was also of great concern to the Legislature. It allowed married couples with large estates to avoid paying Washington's estate tax, creating an estimated loss of \$159 million in education funding. *See* RCW 83.100.220, .230 (directing Washington estate taxes solely to education funding).

C. This Court Upheld the Legislature's Retroactive Closure of the Tax Loophole Created by the *Bracken* Decision

The Washington Legislature acted swiftly to address the fiscal and tax policy implications of *Bracken*. In June 2013, only a few months after *Bracken* was decided, the Legislature amended the estate tax code to make clear that the tax *does* apply to QTIP passing at the death of the second spouse. *See* Laws of 2013, 2d Spec. Sess., ch. 2. The intended purpose of the legislation was "to reinstate the legislature's intended meaning when it enacted the estate tax, restore parity between married couples and unmarried individuals, restore parity between QTIP property and other property eligible for the marital deduction, and prevent the adverse fiscal impacts of the *Bracken* decision." *Id.* at § 1(5). The 2013 amendment applied retroactively to "all estates of decedents dying on or after May 17, 2005." *Id.* at § 9.

In *Hambleton*, this Court unanimously upheld the retroactive "*Bracken* fix" legislation, finding—among other things—that the act was rationally related to preventing the "unanticipated and significant fiscal shortfall" created by the *Bracken* decision. *Hambleton*, 181 Wn.2d at 827. *Hambleton* resolved all pending appeals dealing with the tax treatment of QTIP, with the exception of the appeal filed by the Mesdag Estate. *See* VRP at 18 (no other QTIP cases being litigated post-*Hambleton*).

D. After Having Its Estate Tax Refund Denied, the Mesdag Estate Sought a Refund of Assessed Interest It Paid in 2010

Barbara Mesdag's estate was one of a number of estates that sought a refund of Washington tax that it had paid on QTIP included in its federal taxable estate. Barbara Mesdag died in July 2007 and her estate's Washington estate tax return was due nine months later. After receiving a six month extension, the Mesdag Estate filed its return in October 2008. AR 2, 9. On that return, the Estate claimed a deduction for QTIP included in its federal taxable estate. AR 9.

The Department denied the QTIP deduction and assessed an additional \$3,103,161.82 in tax and interest. *Id.* A few months later, the Department informed the Estate that it would not take any action on the debt until the pending *Bracken* litigation was fully resolved. AR 29. However, in 2010 the Estate chose to pay the assessed tax and interest. AR 54-56. Shortly thereafter, the Estate sued for a refund under the Administrative Procedure Act. AR 139.²

The APA proceedings were initially stayed pending resolution of the *Bracken* appeal. AR 139. After *Bracken* was decided, the trial court ruled in favor of the Estate. The Department promptly appealed. *Id*.

² By the time the Estate paid the assessment, the interest relating to the late payment of tax on QTIP totaled \$307,668.63. *See* Br. of Resp., p. 9 n.4 (providing calculation of "assessed interest").

After this Court's decision in *Hambleton*, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court and rejected the Estate's tax refund claim. *See Osborne v. Dep't of Revenue*, 189 Wn. App. 1029, 2015 WL 4760567 (2015) (unpublished) (hereinafter *Osborne I*) (copy in the record at AR 137). But that did not end the litigation. The Estate argued that it was entitled to a refund of assessed interest it paid in 2010. Because this issue was raised for the first time in the Estate's post-*Hambleton* supplemental brief, the Court of Appeals remanded the issue to the Department for further proceedings pursuant to RCW 34.05.554(2). AR 146.

E. The Department Rejected the Estate's Claim for Refund of Assessed Interest and the Superior Court Affirmed

On remand to the Department, the Estate argued that the Department illegally collected an "interest penalty" when the Estate paid the assessed tax and interest in 2010, and "illegally took" and retained that payment during the period in which it "was obligated under *Bracken* to refund the contested amounts paid by the Estate." AR 133-34. The Department denied the Estate's refund claim because interest imposed under the estate tax code was not a "penalty" and the estate tax refund statute, RCW 83.100.130(1), permitted a refund of interest only in connection with the refund of tax. AR 169-71. The superior court affirmed the Department's action. CP 85. The Estate again appealed. CP 87.

F. Court of Appeals Reversed and Ordered a Refund of the Assessed Interest

The Court of Appeals, without the benefit of oral argument, reversed the superior court and set aside the Department's decision. The Court reasoned that although the 2013 *Bracken* fix legislation applied retroactively, estate tax was not "due" on QTIP until the date that legislation was signed into law. *Scott B. Osborne v. Dep't of Revenue*, No. 50762-5-II, 2019 WL 949432 (Feb. 26, 2019) (unpublished) (*Osborne II*), slip op. at 6-8. Prior to that date, the *Bracken* decision's narrow interpretation of the estate tax code controlled over the 2013 *Bracken* fix because the court decision "operates as if it were originally written into" the tax code. *Osborne II*, slip. op. at 6 (quoting *Johnson v. Morris*, 87 Wn.2d 922, 927, 557 P.2d 1299 (1976)). Because tax on QTIP was not "due" retroactively, the Estate did not owe the assessed interest it paid in 2010. *Id.* at 8.³

V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Court of Appeals failed to give full retroactive effect to the 2013 *Bracken* fix legislation when it concluded that tax and interest is

³ The Court of Appeals also awarded "interest on interest," bringing the total refund to approximately \$350,000. Slip op. at 8-9.

"due" under the 2013 retroactive amendment only from the date the amendment was enacted into law. The Court of Appeals' reasoning is directly contrary to this Court's analysis and holdings in *Hambleton* and *Hale* and warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(3) and (b)(4).

A. The Use of a Legal Fiction to Undercut this Court's Separation of Powers Holdings in *Hambleton* and *Hale* Warrants Review

The Court of Appeals determined that this Court's holding in *Bracken* had priority over the 2013 legislation designed to rectify the severe fiscal and tax policy impact of *Bracken*. Giving a retroactive court decision priority over a subsequent retroactive amendment is directly contrary to this Court's separation of powers holdings in *Hambleton* and *Hale*.

The Court of Appeals arrived at its decision through a dubious legal fiction. Quoting this Court's opinion in *Johnson v. Morris*, 87 Wn.2d 922, 557 P.2d 1299 (1976), the Court of Appeals reasoned that the narrow construction of the estate tax set out in *Bracken* "operates as if it were originally written into" the tax code. *Osborne II*, slip. op. at 6 (quoting *Johnson*, 87 Wn.2d at 927). "In other words, there is no 'retroactive' effect of the court's construction of a statute; rather, once the court has determined the meaning, that is what the statute has meant since its enactment." *Id.* at 6-7 (quoting *Johnson*, 87 Wn.2d at 928).

Although Johnson v. Morris states that this Court's construction of a statute has no retroactive effect, the statement is clearly not true. In more recent cases this Court has consistently recognized that a court decision announcing a new rule of law "generally applies retroactively." *McDevitt* v. *Harbor View Med. Ctr.*, 179 Wn.2d 59, 75, 316 P.3d 469 (2013). More specifically, while a judicial decision may have "retroactive, prospective, or selective prospective application," retroactive application is "overwhelmingly the norm." *Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 166 Wn.2d 264, 270, 208 P.3d 1092 (2009) (internal quotation and citation omitted). Stated otherwise, "once this court has applied a rule retroactively to the parties in the case announcing a new rule, we will apply the new rule to all others not barred by procedural requirements " *Robinson v. City of Seattle*, 119 Wn.2d 34, 74, 830 P.2d 318 (1992). The Court of Appeals ignored these more recent decisions.

Additionally, giving a retroactive court decision priority over a subsequent retroactive amendment is directly contrary to this Court's decision in *Hambleton*. In that case, this Court held that when the co-equal legislative branch enacts a retroactive amendment to a civil statute it is the duty of the courts to "apply that law in reviewing judgments still on appeal ... and must alter the outcome accordingly." *Hambleton*, 181 Wn.2d at 822 (quoting *Plaut v. Spendthrift Farm, Inc.*, 514 U.S. 211, 226, 115 S. Ct.

1447, 131 L. Ed. 2d 328 (1995)). Moreover, this Court in *Hambleton* expressly rejected the notion that *Bracken* was immune from subsequent retroactive legislation. *See Hambleton*, 181 Wn.2d at 817-23 (discussing separation of powers and holding that the Legislature "did not intrude on judicial power when it retroactively amended the . . . Act"). In short, "[t]he decision to retroactively amend the statute was a policy decision, properly in the sphere of the legislature." *Id.* at 822 n.3.

Hambleton did not chart a new course in this Court's separation of powers precedent. Rather, the *Hambleton* decision reaffirmed "the principles and reasoning announced in *Hale*." *Id.* at 820. In *Hale*, this Court "firmly rejected the contention that just because an appellate court's statutory interpretation relates back to the time when the statute was originally adopted, any retroactive amendment of that statute violates separation of powers." *Id.* (quoting *Lummi Indian Nation v. State*, 170 Wn.2d 247, 241 P.3d 1220 (2010)). The Court of Appeals should have applied that controlling precedent and respected the language and intent of the 2013 legislation. Instead, it relied on *Johnson* to impede that legislation.

Johnson is not cited in McDevitt, Lunsford, or Robinson, and those more recent decisions addressing the retroactive application of court decisions do not rely on the Johnson legal fiction. Additionally, Johnson is

not discussed in *Hambleton*. It is, however, discussed in *Hale*. And that discussion is telling. After quoting *Johnson*, this Court in *Hale* rephrased the holding of that case in a manner consistent with the true nature of court decisions: "In other words, it is within this court's 'appropriate sphere of activity' to determine what a particular statute means, and that determination relates back to the time of the statute's enactment." *Hale*, 165 Wn.2d at 506. Under that restated holding, there was no constitutional bar to giving full force to a subsequent legislative amendment that retroactively changed the law. *Id.* at 509-10. Stated differently, this Court in *Hale* did not use *Johnson* to impede the full retroactive force of a subsequent legislative amendment, as the Court of Appeals has done here.

In sum, *Johnson v. Morris* is an outlier. The Court of Appeals should have followed more recent and more thoroughly analyzed decisions addressing the retroactive effect of court decisions. More importantly, the Court should not have relied on *Johnson* as a means for giving *Bracken* greater retroactive force than the 2013 *Bracken* fix legislation.

In 2010, when the Estate paid the assessed interest at issue, the tax treatment of QTIP was still in doubt. The *Bracken* decision resolved that dispute, but only for a short period of time. *Bracken* applied retroactively to the date of the enactment of the stand-alone estate tax. So too did the

2013 *Bracken* fix legislation. Under this Court's precedent, there is absolutely no reason to give *Bracken* greater retroactive effect than the subsequent legislative amendment.

Whether a court decision has greater retroactive force than a legislative amendment is a significant question of constitutional law and an issue of substantial public importance. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(3) and (b)(4) to address this significant issue.

B. The Court of Appeals Conclusion that Tax is "Due" on a Prospective-Only Basis Conflicts with *Hambleton*

In addition to the serious misapplication of this Court's separation of powers holdings in *Hambleton* and *Hale*, the Court of Appeals reasoning for granting the Mesdag Estate a refund of assessed interest conflicts with another key aspect of *Hambleton*. This Court in *Hambleton* gave full retroactive effect to the 2013 amendment to the estate tax code. The Court of Appeals opinion does not. Instead, the Court of Appeals held that estate tax and interest are "due" on QTIP on a prospective-only basis. For this additional reason, review is warranted.

There is no serious dispute that the Mesdag Estate would owe the assessed interest it paid in 2010 if not for the Court of Appeals conclusion that the tax on QTIP is "due" only from the date the Legislature passed the

Bracken fix legislation in 2013. *See Osborne II*, slip op. at 6.⁴ The Court's reasoning is absurd. While the Legislature undeniably amended the estate tax code retroactively to *impose tax* on QTIP passing at death, the Court of Appeals reasoned that the Legislature "cannot have intended to make such a tax come due and begin accruing interest as early as eight years before its own enactment." *Id.* at 9. Inexplicably, the Court created a distinction between retroactively *imposing* a tax and making "such a tax come due."

The distinction the Court of Appeals created between retroactively imposing tax and prospectively making "such tax come due" was not part of this Court's analysis in *Hambleton*. To the contrary, this Court clearly recognized and applied the Legislature's stated intent to tax QTIP retroactively. *See Hambleton*, 181 Wn.2d at 813 ("In 2013, the legislature responded to *Bracken* by amending the Act *to tax QTIP assets upon the death of the surviving spouse*") (emphasis added); *id.* at 814 (the legislature intended for the amendments to apply both prospectively and retroactively); *id.* at 827 ("The amendment applies to *all estates* since our

⁴ The accrued interest the Estate paid in 2010 was imposed under RCW 83.100.070. That code section mandates that "tax due under this chapter which is not paid by the due date" shall bear interest from the date the tax is due until the date of payment. RCW 83.100.070(1). Tax is due under the estate tax code "on or before the date the Washington return is required to be filed . . . , not including any extension of time for filing." RCW 83.100.060(1). A Washington estate tax return is required to be filed nine months after the date of the decedent's death. WAC 458-57-135(3)(a). Applying the plain language of these provisions, the Estate would owe interest on its late payment of estate tax if not for the Court of Appeals' holding that the tax is not "due" retroactively.

state enacted" the stand-alone estate tax) (emphasis added). *See also Estate of Ackerley v. Dep't of Revenue*, 187 Wn.2d 906, 913-14, 389 P.3d 583 (2017) (discussing the Legislature's express intent when it amended the estate tax code in 2013 and recognizing the full retroactive effect this Court gave to that 2013 legislation in *Hambleton*). There can be no mistake from this Court's analysis and holding in *Hambleton* that estate tax is due and owing on QTIP passing at the death of the second spouse.

The Court of Appeals opinion ignores the clear intent of the Legislature to impose the tax on "all estates" of decedents dying on or after May 17, 2005, and conflicts with this Court's analysis and holding in *Hambleton*. Consequently, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

VI. CONCLUSION

The Department respectfully asks this Court to accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals.