FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/23/2019 11:40 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96997-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SCOTT B. OSBORNE, Personal Representative of the Estate of Barbara Hagyard Mesdag,

Respondent,

VS.

THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark W. Roberts, WSBA #16843 Peter A. Talevich, WSBA #42644 K&L Gates LLP 925 Fourth Ave, Suite 2900 Seattle, WA 98104-1158 (206) 623-7580

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Aaron P. Orheim, WSBA #47670 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Respondent Scott B. Osborne

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

These provisions only allow the imposition of interest if taxes have not been paid by their due date. According to DOR, the final date for filing the Washington estate tax return was October 4, 2008.⁴ AR 58. Interest may be charged only if the Estate had not paid all taxes due on that date.

The Estate and DOR disagreed as of October 4, 2008, whether the Estate's tax liability had been satisfied because of the dispute over whether the QTIP assets should have been included in the Estate's assets for Washington estate tax purposes. That disagreement was resolved by Bracken in the Estate's favor. As of October 4, 2008 (or for that matter in 2010 when the Estate paid the tax and interest under protest), the Estate did not owe the disputed taxes and the Estate was not delinquent in any

⁴ The "due date" for payment is the date the Washington estate tax return is due. RCW 83.100.060(1). The Washington estate tax return is due on the same day the federal estate tax is due, giving effect to any permitted extensions of time. RCW 83.100.050(2)(a).

tax obligation to DOR on October 4, 2008, as the Bracken court's decision made clear.

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, it is fundamental that the *Bracken* court's interpretation of Washington's estate tax was the law from the time the statute was first enacted. There is no "retroactive" effect of this Court's construction of a statute; rather, "It is a fundamental rule of statutory construction that once a statute has been construed by the highest court of the state, that construction operates as if it were originally written into it." *Osborne II*, 2019 WL 949432 at *3 (2019) (citing *Johnson v. Morris*, 87 Wn.2d 922, 927-28, 557 P.2d 1299 (1976)). Thus, as of October 4, 2008, and until 2013, the Estate had no taxes due and owing to DOR, and DOR was therefore not entitled to collect an interest penalty on taxes which were not due.⁵

⁵ DOR admitted below that due to *Bracken*, "the Estate owed no Washington estate tax on QTIP" assets. Br. of Resp't at 15. DOR then argued that *Bracken* "was controlling law in this state for only a few short months before it was repudiated and replaced by retroactive legislation enacted in 2013." Br. of Resp't at 12. Not true. The *Bracken* court's interpretation of the estate tax statute is deemed to have applied since its enactment, as will be noted *infra*. Thus, in operation, QTIP trusts were never part of a taxable estate until 2013 when the Legislature amended the statute. DOR was wrong in 2008 when it included them within the Estate's taxable assets. And DOR was wrong when it charged the Estate interest on unpaid funds that it had no right to collect in the first place.

The absurdity of DOR's argument is clear. DOR claimed that due to "retroactive legislation, the Estate was not entitled to deduct QTIP on its Washington return and should have paid the tax when it was due in order to avoid interest on the underpayment." Br. of Resp't at 12. But the deduction was made in 2008. The law did not change until 2013. DOR fails to explain how the Estate was wrong to deduct, in 2008, that which was not owed. Division II properly found that DOR's arguments are

DOR erroneously contends in its petition that Division II should not have relied on Johnson because it is an "outlier" or "legal fiction." Pet. at 9, 12. This is simply not true. Numerous courts have repeated the "familiar rule of statutory construction that when a statute has once been construed by the highest court of the state, that construction is as much a part of the statute as if it were originally written into it." State v. Regan, 97 Wn.2d 47, 51-52, 640 P.2d 725 (1982); accord, O'Day v. King County, 109 Wn.2d 796, 807, 749 P.2d 142 (1988); State v. Crediford, 130 Wn.2d 747, 760, 927 P.2d 1129 (1996); Stedman v. Cooper, 172 Wn. App. 9, 24, 292 P.3d 764 (2012); Yuchasz v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State, 183 Wn. App. 879, 888, 335 P.3d 998 (2014).6 Even in federal courts, "the Supreme Court's 'construction of a statute is an authoritative statement of what the statute meant before as well as after the decision of the case giving rise to that construction." Murphy v. DirecTV, Inc., 724 F.3d 1218, 1225 (9th Cir. 2013) (quoting Rivers v. Roadway Express, Inc., 511 U.S. 298, 312-13, 114 S. Ct. 1510, 128 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1994)).

Here, Division II's opinion is sound where the trial court clearly ignored this long-standing and binding rule of statutory construction

"absurd and inequitable and cannot be what the legislature intended." Osborne II, 2019 WL 949432 at *4.

⁶ Johnson has been cited in 116 appellate decisions according to Westlaw.

described above, erroneously concluding that the Estate was legally obligated to pay the disputed taxes in 2008:

The tax was certainly owed in 2008, and it is owed now as was confirmed in the case of the *Estate of Hambleton*. The estate here received the benefit of the *Bracken* decision, but very quickly also had that benefit taken away by the legislative change. The interest, however, was paid because that amount was due. The fact that there was a short time period years later when the amount was not due does not change the fact that the tax was due earlier than it was paid.

RP 31. The trial court likely arrived at this conclusion that *Bracken* was legislatively overruled based on DOR's argument to that effect below. CP 49, 50, 52-54, 57-59.

DOR was previously careful to avoid saying that the *Bracken* Amendment overruled *Bracken*, to avoid separation of powers problems. In its brief in Cause No. 44766-5-II, DOR wrote at 26-27:

applying the amended law to the transfer of QTIP occurring at the death of Barbara Mesdag does not threaten the independence or integrity of the judicial branch by dictating how a court should determine an issue of fact. Instead, the Legislature "acted wholly within its sphere of authority to make policy, to pass laws, and to amend laws already in effect" when it passed the retroactive fix to the Washington estate tax. *Hale*, 165 Wn.2d at 509. The Legislature did not "reverse" or "annul" the Supreme Court's decision in *Bracken*. Instead, the Legislature changed the statutory definitions of "transfer" and "Washington taxable estate" to ensure that QTIP passing under Internal Revenue Code § 2044 will not escape the Washington tax.

In Hambleton, this Court noted in its separation of powers discussion that

separation of powers principles are not violated only if the Legislature does not intrude upon judicial power by retroactively reversing the courts' interpretation of a statute. 181 Wn.2d at 819 (emphasis added). DOR asserted below that Bracken was "effectively overruled." CP 49-50, 57. DOR cannot have it both ways. Either Bracken was never overruled and was the law in Washington until the 2013 legislation and no estate tax was due, or it was, and DOR misrepresented what it was doing when it was trying to enact the Bracken Amendment.

Bracken's legal effect when it concluded that a tax was owed in 2008 and interest was due for failure to pay in 2008. The Estate did not owe tax on the QTIP assets in 2008 or at any time thereafter until the 2013 Bracken Amendment created a new definition of taxable transfer to encompass the QTIP assets. The disputed tax was not due in 2008 and the Estate could not be delinquent in the payment of a tax it did not yet owe. As the Division II correctly noted, to hold otherwise would "punish the Estate for failing to pay an obligation that it had no way of predicting and was in fact inconsistent with the taxation scheme in place at the time." Osborne II,

DOR never cited any provision of the Bracken Amendment imposing retroactive interest. Nor can it. The Bracken Amendment contains no reference to

Importantly, Division II's opinion does not conflict with any opinion of this Court. Rather, it falls in line with centuries of jurisprudence in this State. As this Court stated over 100 years ago, "the state cannot take more than the actual tax, whether under the guise of interest or otherwise, until the taxpayer has failed or omitted to perform a duty imposed by law." State v. Superior Court for Stevens County, 93 Wash. 433, 435, 161 P. 77, 78 (1916). In Stevens County, a landowner challenged his property tax assessment and prevailed in the Supreme Court. Id. at 433 (discussing the facts of First Thought Gold Mines v. Stevens County, 91 Wash. 437, 439, 157 P. 1080 (1916)). On remand, the county attempted to charge interest on the funds that the landowner disputed, funds this Court already determined could not be taxed. Id. The Court held that the county could not charge interest, for it would be the "height of inequity" to charge interest on a tax assessment that a taxpayer prevailed in challenging. *Id.* at 438.

In reaching its decision, the Stevens County court discussed the exact situation at hand, citing favorably the rule that:

[W]here the Legislature passes a law for the taxation of property theretofore omitted as a subject of taxation, it

interest owed on the newly imposed taxes. And to the extent there is any ambiguity in interpreting a tax statute like the 2013 amendment, the Division II correctly noted that courts must "strictly interpret[] ambiguities in statutes imposing taxes in favor of the taxpayer." Osborne II, 2019 WL 949432 at *2 (citing Sacred Heart Med. Ctr. v. Dep't of Revenue, 88 Wn. App. 632, 636-37, 946 P.2d 409 (1997)).

cannot provide for interest from some antecedent date, but must provide some future time within which the tax must be paid after which interest may be demanded.

Id. at 435. This longstanding rule aligns with this Court's recent observation that "for an amount to constitute interest, it must be paid or received on an existing, valid, and enforceable obligation." HomeStreet, Inc. v. State, Dep't of Revenue, 166 Wn.2d 444, 452-53, 210 P.3d 297 (2009). As of 2010, given this Court's Bracken decision, there was no "valid or enforceable" obligation to which the penalty assessed by DOR could attach. There was no "existing, valid, and enforceable obligation" on the part of the Estate to pay the disputed taxes prior to the enactment of the Bracken Amendment, as Bracken had held that no taxes were due.

Moreover, Division II's opinion *avoids* conflicting with precedent and avoids manifest constitutional problems. For example, under procedural due process principles, taxpayers must be provided a "clear and certain" remedy for the illegal imposition of taxes. *See, e.g., Reich v. Collins*, 513 U.S. 106, 108, 115 S. Ct. 547, 130 L. Ed. 2d 454 (1994); *Newsweek, Inc. v. Florida Dep't of Revenue*, 522 U.S. 442, 443-44, 118 S. Ct. 904, 139 L. Ed. 2d 888 (1998). It is a violation of a person's due process rights to have to pay an illegal tax. *Sintra v. City of Seattle*, 119 Wn.2d 1, 24, 829 P.2d 765 (1992), *cert. denied*, 506 U.S. 1026 (1992) (imposition of legally invalidated development fees may constitute

violation of developer's due process rights); *Patel v. City of San Bernadino*, 310 F.3d 1134 (9th Cir. 2002) (city's continued collection on unconstitutional tax violated due process and action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 was available). The *Bracken* Amendment does not negate the fact DOR collected taxes and interest in 2010 the Estate was *not legally obligated to pay as of 2008*. Division II's proper interpretation of RCW 83.100.130 avoids these constitutional issues and provides the Estate an adequate remedy for DOR's erroneous interpretation of the Estate's tax liability.

In sum, Division II properly concluded that, for the period 2008-13, the Estate did not owe a tax on QTIP assets given this Court's construction of our estate tax law. DOR lacked authority to impose interest on an obligation that the Estate did not owe in light of *Bracken*. Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

(3) DOR's Imposition of \$310,937.15 in Interest Is an Impermissible Retroactive Penalty

This Court need go no farther than the analysis advanced by the

⁸ Collecting unauthorized taxes may also violate a taxpayer's Fifth Amendment and Washington Constitution, article I, § 16, rights by being a taking. *United States v. Pittman*, 449 F.2d 623, 626 (7th Cir. 1971) (IRS tax levy and consequent seizure of property that fails to give taxpayer proper credit for property seized is a Fifth Amendment taking); *Behrens v. Commercial Waterway Dist. No. 1 of King County*, 107 Wash. 155, 157-58, 181 Pac. 892 (1919) (illegal special assessment constitutes a taking under article I, § 16); *Tiffany Family Trust Corp. v. City of Kent*, 155 Wn.2d 225, 233-34, 119 P.3d 325 (2005) (same).

Estate *supra*. However, there is an additional contingent argument supporting the Estate's position. The Estate argued below that the trial court's ruling improperly imposed a retroactive civil penalty, in violation of Washington law. The trial court erroneously concluded that the interest did not constitute a penalty, RP 32, and Division II declined to address this argument in its opinion. However, this is an independent basis to uphold Division II's ruling and another reason why review of that unpublished decision is unwarranted.

Retroactive civil penalties are unenforceable in Washington. Adcox v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp. & Medical Center, 123 Wn.2d 15, 30, 864 P.2d 921 (1993) (civil penalties imposed on hospitals not retroactive); Johnston v. Beneficial Mgmt. Corp. of Am., 85 Wn.2d 637, 642, 538 P.2d 510 (1975), modified on other grounds in Salois v. Mutual of Omaha Ins. Co., 90 Wn.2d 355, 581 P.2d 1349 (1978) (treble damage remedy in CPA applied only prospectively). DOR did not dispute this longstanding rule below, it merely argued that the interest imposed on delinquent estate taxes is not a penalty. Br. of Resp't at 25-26. But DOR's argument has been expressly rejected by this Court.

Washington courts have long held that "[i]nterest upon delinquent taxes is a penalty, and not interest." *Stevens County*, 93 Wash. at 435. "And this is so whether the penalty be in the way of interest, the addition

of a certain per cent. [sic], or by doubling the tax." *Id.* In *In re Elvigen's Estate*, 191 Wash. 614, 71 P.2d 672 (1937), this Court expressly adopted this principle in the context of the estate tax. It explained that "[t]he purpose of imposing penalties for tax delinquencies is to compel all property owners to bear their equal share of the public burden, to pay their taxes promptly, and to *punish* taxpayers for frauds, evasions, and neglect of duty." 191 Wash. at 621 (emphasis added). Thus, the Court wrote, "In the event one is delinquent in paying an inheritance tax, by the express terms of [the inheritance tax statute], an interest *penalty* is imposed." *Id.* (emphasis added); *see also*, *Dep't of Revenue v. Estate of Pohelmann*, 63 Wn. App. 263, 818 P.2d 616 (1991) (addressing whether DOR could collect "a *penalty* for the tardy filing of a state estate tax return") (emphasis added).

DOR never reckoned with this on-point authority, and merely cited federal cases which did not involve the Washington estate tax. Br. of Resp't at 27 (citing, e.g., United States v. Childs, 266 U.S. 304, 309, 45 S. Ct. 110, 69 L. Ed. 299 (1924); In re Beardsley & Wolcott Mfg. Co., 82 F.2d 239, 240 (2d Cir. 1936)). But these cases only discuss interest versus penalties in general terms and have no bearing on Washington tax law as outlined by the Elvigen's Estate. Again, in Washington, the purpose of charging interest on late estate tax payments is to "punish taxpayers for

frauds, evasions, and neglect of duty." *Elvigen's Estate*, 191 Wash. at 621 (emphasis added). Such a penalty cannot apply retroactively, as DOR would have this Court hold. This additional argument supports Division II's opinion. This Court should deny review and allow that opinion to stand.

E. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review of a well-reasoned unpublished decision which by DOR's own admission, affects only *one* estate in the entire state. Far from a Supreme Court case, this is yet another refusal by DOR to admit that it wrongfully imposed an interest penalty from 2008 to 2010, when the underlying tax was not legally due until 2013. This Court should deny review.